### **FILED**

MAR 2 4 2017

FILED March 17, 2017 WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

Court of Appeals

Division / State of Washington SUPREME COURT NO.

No. 142195

NO. 73069-0-I

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

#### THOMASDINH BOWMAN,

Petitioner.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Bruce E. Heller, Judge

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

KEVIN A. MARCH Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

###

#### B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Were the prosecution's proffered race-neutral explanations for peremptorily striking the sole black woman on Bowman's jury implausible and pretextual, such that the peremptory strike violated <u>Batson v. Kentucky</u>, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69 (1986)?
- 2. In light of this court's decision in <u>State v. Saintcalle</u>, 178 Wn.2d 34, 309 P.3d 326 (2013), which, although fractured, called for alternative approaches to the <u>Batson</u> standard, should the Court of Appeals have adopted (or at least considered) Bowman's proposed standard based on the greater protection provided in article I, section 21 of the Washington Constitution that would deny a peremptory challenge whenever there is a reasonable probability race was a factor in the exercise of the peremptory?
- 3. It is defense counsel's responsibility as a matter of trial strategy to decide whether to request lesser included offense instructions. Was defense counsel ineffective for not exercising his own judgment and leaving the decision to Bowman alone?

- 4. Does the pattern reasonable doubt instruction misdescribe the burden of proof, undermine the presumption of innocence, and shift the burden to the defense to provide "a reason" for why reasonable doubt exists?
- 5. In prohibiting defense counsel from arguing that the State's evidence did not show premeditation, did the trial court deprive Bowman of his right to present a defense and right to effective counsel?

#### C. PRO SE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 6. Can the light most favorable to the State used in a sufficiency challenge be artificial?
- 7. Is a Filing Cabinet a reasonable analog for a Computer System connected to the Internet?
- 8. Does a slander campaign of false characterizations, misquotations, projected slogans, and personal opinions meet the threshold of prosecutorial misconduct that is incurable by jury instructions?
- 9. Is a person expected to pursue illegal and dangerous acts as methods of retreat when faced with grave personal threat?
- 10. Can the State argue that a defendant's silence before trial supports the State's theory of the defendant fabricating testimony?
- 11. If a person acts in justifiable self-defense, can a judgement of premeditated murder of a stranger be upheld?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Charges and factual background

The State charged Bowman with fist degree premeditated murder for the shooting death of Yancy Noll on August 31, 2012, and also alleged Bowman was armed with a firearm per RCW 9.94A.533(3). CP 1.

Witnesses near the shooting heard five gunshots in Seattle's Roosevelt neighborhood and described a silver BMW convertible quickly driving away. 12RP<sup>1</sup> 47, 52, 54, 72-73; 13RP 17-19, 21, 28, 30, 35-37, 100, 103-05, 129-30, 133-34. Police found Noll bleeding inside his red Subaru; he had four gunshots to the head. 13RP 79, 82; 18RP 69, 74, 78, 80.

A tip a couple weeks later turned the investigation to Bowman. 14RP 91. Police obtained a warrant and found a BMW with broken glass in the car and wheels had been freshly painted black. 14RP 92-95.

Bowman had taken the car to Portland to replace the glass and had bought new tires. 14RP 137, 141, 151, 158; 15RP 68-69, 75, 77.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Consistent with the briefing below, Bowman refers to the verbatim reports of proceedings as follows: 1RP—October 31, 2014; 2RP—November 3, 2014; 3RP—November 4, 2014; 4RP—November 5, 2014; 5RP—November 6, 2014; 6RP—November 10, 2014; 7RP—November 17, 2014; 8RP—November 17, 2014 (supplement containing voir dire); 9RP—November 18, 2014 (supplement containing voir dire); 10RP—November 18, 2014; 11RP—November 19, 2014 (supplement containing voir dire and opening statements); 12RP—November 19, 2014; 13RP—November 20, 2014; 14RP—November 24, 2014; 15RP—November 25, 2014; 16RP—December 1, 2014; 17RP—December 2, 2014; 18RP—December 3, 2014; 19RP—December 4, 2014; 20RP—December 8, 2014; 21RP—December 9, 2014; 22RP—January 2, 2015.

Police searched Bowman's workplace and found a Glock handgun; the State's firearm and tool mark said the cartridge cases found at the shooting scene matched the Glock slide. 15RP 135, 165-66. Police also found electronic materials on various devices, including a National Rifle Association video on vehicular defense, and PDFs pertaining to forensic topics including those titled "Arrest-Proof Yourself," "Murder, Inc.," and "Death Dealer's Manual." 17RP 68-71. State witnesses attempted to draw parallels between these materials and drawings and statements in Bowman's journal.<sup>2</sup> 18RP 112, 139-46. Police also found evidence Bowman looked at Noll's Facebook memorial page and the police blotter containing video of the suspect's car driving away from the shooting. 17RP 85-86, 96.

Bowman admitted to shooting Noll in self-defense. Bowman explained he had cut Noll off while driving on I-5 northbound, prompting Noll to become aggressive, shouting names and threats and throwing objects. 19RP 44-50. Bowman said Noll was chasing him quickly through surface streets south of the Lake City Way exit; Bowman was afraid and opened the bag where he kept his gun. 19RP 51, 54-58, 62. Bowman testified an object hit him and he crouched down, trying to duck inside the car. 18RP 63-64. Noll pulled alongside Bowman, leaning out and yelling "dick boy" and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The police found more than 12 terabytes of materials in all. 17RP 97. The State selected particular materials to support the State's premeditation theory, though witnesses acknowledged no human could read all the materials they found. 17RP 97; 18RP 149.

threatening to "fuck [Bowman] up." 19RP 64, 66. Noll turned away as though searching for something; Bowman though he was grabbing a gun. 19RP 66-68, 73. Bowman described entering a surreal state, opening his eyes, seeing his gun, the broken window, and glass inside his car. 19RP 68-69. Bowman said he did not remember the shooting and did not intend to kill him. 19RP 65, 67.

#### 2. Batson challenge

At a sidebar during jury selection, the State indicated it would be peremptorily challenging the only black woman sitting in the jury box, Juror 5, and Bowman lodged a <u>Batson</u> objection. 11RP 65. The trial court demanded a race-neutral explanation from the prosecutor. 11RP 66.

The State proffered five purportedly race-neutral reasons: (1) her nephew was in prison for murder and, although Juror 5 stated she did not believe he was innocent, she said she would "like to believe" so, 19RP 112; 11RP 21, 66-67; (2) Juror 5 answered affirmatively to the prosecutor's question about whether it is difficult to "sit in judgment" of others, 11RP 66-67; (3) the State wasn't sure "about her ability to follow things," 11RP 66-67; (4) she referenced an Apple television commercial that "seemed to have nothing to do with anything," 11RP 66-67; (5) she wasn't "completely forthcoming about whatever her job is," 11RP 67.

The trial court denied the <u>Batson</u> challenge, relying primarily on Juror 5's agreement with the prosecutor that "she would have trouble sitting in judgment of somebody." 11RP 70-71. The trial court "wouldn't be as bothered by" Juror 5's statements about her nephew because "[s]he never said that she thought her nephew was innocent." 11RP 71. The trial court did not address the other proffered explanations.

#### 3. Jury instructions

Defense counsel asserted repeatedly that it was Bowman's decision not to request lesser included offense instructions. 19RP 174; 20RP 168-69; 21RP 5. The State argued that counsel, not Bowman, was required to decide whether to request lesser included offense instructions per <u>State v. Grier</u>, 171 Wn.2d 17, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011), as a matter of trial strategy. 20RP 168.

The jury was also instructed, "A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence." CP 25.

#### 4. Defense closing

To respond to the State's arguments that Bowman was a "student of murder because he possessed this manual, and this book," counsel argued, "he certainly did not follow the lessons, all the lessons prescribed in those books. Don't do anything in broad daylight. Two, don't do anything in heavy traffic. Three, don't do anything in a flashy car." 21RP 117. The State objected, "facts not in evidence," which was sustained. 21RP 117.

#### 5. Verdict, judgment, sentence, and appeal

The jury found Bowman guilty as charged. CP 17-18.

The court imposed a standard range 290-month sentence and a 60-month firearm enhancement. CP 88. It also imposed \$665 in discretionary court costs without inquiring into ability to pay. CP 87; 22RP 47.

Bowman appealed. CP 95. The Court of Appeals rejected all Bowman's <u>Batson</u> arguments and statement of additional grounds, refusing to even consider his proposed alternative to the <u>Batson</u> analysis based on article I, section 21. Appendix at 12-20. However, the Court of Appeals remanded for compliance with RCW 10.01.160(3) per <u>State v. Blazina</u>, 182 Wn.2d 827, 344 P.3d 680 (2015), as to the court costs imposed by the trial court. Appendix at 20-21.

#### E. ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF REVIEW

1. THE STATE'S REASONS FOR PEREMPTORILY CHALLENGING JUROR 5 WERE PRETEXTUAL UNDER BATSON AND ITS PROGENY

The Fourteenth Amendment's equal protection clause requires trial "by a jury whose members are selected pursuant to nondiscriminatory criteria." <u>Batson v. Kentucky</u>, 476 U.S. at 85-86. <u>Batson</u> establishes a three-part test to determine whether the State's peremptory challenge is

discriminatory,<sup>3</sup> but where the State purports to give a race-neutral explanation, the only pertinent question on appeal is whether the State's explanations were race-neutral. <u>State v. Luvene</u>, 127 Wn.2d 690, 699, 903 P.2d 960 (1995); <u>State v. Cook</u>, 175 Wn. App. 36, 39, 312 P.3d 653 (2013). Here they were not.

# a. The State's reliance on Juror 5's nephew's incarceration was pretextual

The State argued that Juror 5 "has a nephew who [is] in prison for murder. She would like to believe that he's innocent. In which case she believes she has an innocent nephew in prison." 11RP 66. But Juror 5, when asked directly whether she "believe[d] that there's a chance that your nephew is in prison unjustly," responded, "I don't believe that. I don't. I don't believe that." 11RP 21; see also Br. of Appellant at 13-14. The State's race-neutral explanation was not remotely supported by the record.<sup>4</sup> "The prosecution's proffer of [a] pretextual explanation naturally gives rise to an inference of discriminatory intent." Snyder v. Louisiana, 552 U.S. 472, 485,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> First, the defendant must establish a prima facie case of discrimination. Second, if the prima facie case is established, the State bears the burden to articulate a race-neutral reason for the challenge. Third, the trial court ponders the plausibility of the State's explanation and determines whether the challenge was discriminatory. <u>Batson</u>, 476 U.S. at 93-98.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The prosecutor flailed to give confused reasons for the challenge: "She thinks he probably isn't [innocent], but she would like to believe that," and "And that means that she believes that there are innocent people in prison for murder in her family." 11RP 67. The prosecutor contradicted herself within a few sentences, demonstrating she was exercising the peremptory strike on the impermissible basis of race.

128 S. Ct. 1203, 170 L. Ed. 2d 175 (2008); see also Ali v. Hickman, 584 F.3d 1174, 1192 (9th Cir. 2009) (when proffered reasons are pretextual, it "raises an inference that this final rationale is also a make-weight"); Cook, 175 Wn. App. at 40 n.9 (unsupported explanations "alone can 'raise[] an inference' that the remaining reasons are pretextual").

The Court of Appeals excused the State's bogus explanation because "the trial court clearly recognized that Juror 5 had merely stated she wanted to believe her nephew was innocent." Appendix at 16. But when the State's explanation is not supported by the record, that belies the State's entire race-neutral purpose in striking the juror. Because the Court of Appeals missed this basic premise in federal and state case law rooted in the equal protection clause, review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (3).

Juror 5 was not the only juror to have a relative in prison for murder whom she did not believe was innocent. Juror 2, who served on the jury, had a more recently convicted relative. 9RP 59-60. The prosecution cannot claim its peremptory strike of Juror 5 for having a murder convict as a relative was race-neutral when it did not seek to exclude Juror 2 for the same reason. Indeed, it shows purposeful discrimination when a "proffered race-neutral explanation could apply just as well to a nonminority juror who was allowed to serve." Saintcalle, 178 Wn.2d at 43 (citing Miller-El v. Dretke, 545 U.S. 231, 241, 125 S. Ct. 2317, 162 L. Ed. 2d 196 (2005)). The Court of

Appeals claimed "it is not possible to conduct any comparability analysis" because "there is no meaningful record of the makeup of the jury panel." Appendix at 15. But defense counsel made the record that Juror 5 was the only black woman "even close to being seated in this case." 11RP 69. The Court of Appeals misreading of the record and refusal to conduct any comparability analysis places its decision in conflict with the constitutional decisions of this court, necessitating review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3).

And, as Bowman pointed out, it is more likely than not that a black woman has at least one relative in prison based on the alarming and disproportionately higher rates of contact black people have with our "justice" system. Br. of Appellant at 16-18. The Court of Appeals didn't bother addressing this issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

b. Juror 5's concerns about sitting in judgment of others resulted from the State's fishing expedition to exclude her and were otherwise innocuous viewing the entirety of her statements

Juror 5, despite being questioned by the prosecutor far more than any other juror, repeatedly stated she would be fair, unbiased, and was open to the perspectives of both the State and the defense. Br. of Appellant at 23 (citing and quoting 9RP 60, 115; 11RP 21, 45). Yet the State, trial court, and Court of Appeals fault Juror 5's self-reflective and thoughtful reservations about her ability to sit as a juror, during which Juror 5 again explained her

ability to see both sides of a case, using her nephew's situation as an example. 2RP 21-22; Appendix at 15. Then the prosecutor asked whether it would be difficult to sit in judgment, Juror 5 said, "That's correct." 11RP 22.

From Juror 5's statements, the State asserted Juror 5 "would find it difficult to sit in judgment, and in talking to her it was clear, it seemed clear to us that she would be probably unable to reach a verdict at all." 11RP 67. The record does not support this hyperbole. Juror 5 was just acknowledging the difficulties and gravitas of jury service, which is a positive, not negative, attribute. Several other jurors, likely white ones, expressed similar difficulties. 11RP 11, 62-63. The State's explanation is not supported by the record, which gives rise to an inference of discriminatory purpose. Under the case law discussed above, review is appropriate. RAP 13.4(b)(1)–(3).

And there is no good answer to the question, "would it be difficult for you to sit in judgment?" If the answer is yes, the prosecutor will assert he juror is too soft or sensitive to return a guilty verdict, which is exactly what the prosecutor argued here. 11RP 67. If the answer is no, the prosecutor could just as easily argue the juror did not take her duties seriously enough. Either way, by asking this question, the State will always have a legitimate sounding race-neutral explanation. Cf. Saintcalle, 178 Wn.2d at 93 (González, J., concurring) ("It would be naïve to think that

attorneys do not rely on readily available and plausible race-neutral reasons to circumvent <u>Batson</u>. Under our current framework, plausible race-neutral reasons remain readily available and regularly invoked."). The prosecutor's question about sitting in judgment was designed to circumvent <u>Batson</u> and does not qualify as a race-neutral explanation.

This conclusion is buttressed by the fact that the prosecutor got an answer to this question after focusing on Juror 5 far more than on any other juror. 9RP 107-32 (in 26 pages of transcript, State questions Juror 5 between pages 111 and 115, 15 to 20 percent of the State's allotted time); 11RP 5-30 (in 26 pages of transcript, State questions Juror 5 between pages 15 to 22, 20 to 25 percent of the State's allotted time). Such "disparate questioning of minority jurors can provide evidence of discriminatory purpose because it creates an appearance that an attorney is 'fishing' for a race-neutral reason to exercise a strike." Saintcalle, 178 Wn.2d at 43. Prosecutors may not "go fishing for race-neutral reasons and then hide behind the legitimate reasons they do find. This disproportionately affects minorities." Id. The Court of Appeals characterized the prosecutor's disparate amount of questioning as "merely asking follow up questions," again placing its decisions at odds with the record and the constitutional law of this court and the Court of Appeals. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (3).

c. Juror 5's statements regarding her employment, an Apple television commercial, and the State's self-contradicting statements regarding Juror 5's ability to track did not provide race-neutral explanations for the strike

The Court of Appeals acknowledged that the State's concern that Juror 5 was not being forthcoming about her job is "perhaps strained" and also recognized that her statements about an Apple television commercial "ultimately led to a conclusion about the importance of not being biased," yet nonetheless concludes these issues showed the State was concerned about Juror 5's ability to communicate. Appendix at 16. As Bowman argued below, however, the State's concerns were just additional pretextual explanations for excluding the only black woman from Bowman's jury. Br. of Appellant at 25-29.

The Court of Appeals and trial court failed to analyze the prosecution's purported race-neutral explanations together. If any given reason appears pretextual, it "naturally gives rise to an inference of discriminatory intent, even where other, potentially valid explanations are offered." Snyder, 552 U.S. at 485; Miller-El, 545 U.S. at 252. Under Snyder and Miller-El, even if a court accepts some of the State's explanations, it still "should step back and evaluate all of the reasons together. The proffer of various faulty reasons and only one or two otherwise adequate reasons[] may undermine the prosecutor's credibility to

such an extent that a court should sustain a <u>Batson</u> challenge." <u>Lewis v. Lewis</u>, 321 F.3d 824, 831 (9th Cir. 2003). Indeed, "in considering a <u>Batson</u> objection, or in reviewing a ruling claimed to be a <u>Batson</u> error, all of the circumstances that bear upon the issue of racial animosity must be consulted." <u>Snyder</u>, 552 U.S. at 478 (citing <u>Miller-El</u>, 545 U.S. at 239). Because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this constitutional precedent, review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

2. THE COURT OF APPEALS SHOULD HAVE CONSIDERED BOWMAN'S PROPOSED <u>BATSON</u> ALTERNATIVE BASED ON AN INDEPENDENT INTERPRETATION OF ARTICLE I, SECTION 21 OF THE WASHINGTON CONSTITUTION

At this court's express invitation in <u>Saintcalle</u>, Bowman advocates for a new standard or framework: a peremptory challenge must be denied if there is a reasonable probability that race was a factor in the exercise of the peremptory challenge. Br. of Appellant at 33-46; Reply Br. at 6-7; <u>Saintcalle</u>, 178 Wn.2d at 51-55 (inviting ideas for a new, functional approach that departs from the <u>Batson</u> standard but declining to adopt new approach because "[n]either party has asked for a new standard or framework, nor have they briefed or argued what that framework might be or how it would apply in this case"); <u>id.</u> at 63 (Madsen, C.J., concurring) ("In my view, the analysis in this case should be limited to the issues raised by the parties.");

id. at 66 (Stephens, J., concurring) ("Because this issue is entirely unbriefed, we are not adequately informed on all sides of the question.").

To support the standard he proposes, Bowman completed a thorough analysis of article I, section 21 of the Washington Constitution pursuant to State v. Gunwall, 106 Wn.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986). Br. of Appellant at 36-39. Bowman's analysis was directly responsive to Saintcalle's statement that "there is constitutional value in having diverse juries, quite apart from the values enshrined in the Fourteenth Amendment. Article I, section 21 of our state constitution declares, 'The right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate." 178 Wn.2d at 49. The Saintcalle decision also suggested, "it might make sense to require a Batson challenge to be sustained if there is a reasonable probability that race was a factor in the exercise of the peremptory..." 178 Wn.2d at 54.

The Court of Appeals refused to even consider this alternative, ironically relying on <u>Saintcalle</u> as a basis for this refusal. Appendix at 17. The Court of Appeals' failure to address this constitutional issue—an issue <u>Saintcalle</u> expressly invited based on the failure of <u>Batson</u> to address serious racial disparities and discrimination in jury selection—merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4).

- 3. DEFENSE COUNSEL MADE NO DECISION ON WHETHER TO REQUEST LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE INSTRUCTIONS AND ERRONEOUSLY LEFT THE DECISION UP TO BOWMAN
  - Defense counsel failed to make the required strategic decision on whether to request lesser included first and second degree manslaughter instructions, resulting in deficient performance

In State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d at 39, this court stated,

A defendant who opts to forgo instructions on lesser included offenses certainly has more to lose if the all or nothing strategy backfires, but she also has more to gain if the strategy results in acquittal. Even where the risk is enormous and the chance of acquittal is minimal, it is the defendant's prerogative to take this gamble, provided her attorney believes there is support for the decision.

(Emphasis added.) "The decision to exclude or include lesser included offense instructions is a decision that requires input from both the defendant and her counsel but <u>ultimately rests</u> with <u>defense counsel</u>." <u>Id.</u> at 32 (emphasis added). Thus, a defendant's decision to "forgo lesser included offense instructions does not bar [an] ineffective assistance claim." Id.

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with <u>Grier</u> because counsel did not make the decision on whether to request lesser included offense instructions but left that decision up to Bowman alone. This warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (3).

The Court of Appeals did not meaningfully address defense counsel's various statements that make clear he did not exercise his own judgment on lesser included instructions. See 19RP 174 ("And his -- it's ultimately his decision, not mine. So I need to look into that with him."); 20RP 169 ("No. It's not [my tactical decision]. It's my client's decision, and it's his decision ultimately to."); 21RP 174 ("And as my person opinion is that ultimately that decision is the defendant's."). Notwithstanding Grier and notwithstanding counsel's consultations with Bowman, Bowman made the decision on lesser included instructions; his lawyer did not. The Court of Appeals failed to acknowledge this clear record and failed to apply Grier's proviso that the attorney must believe "there is support for the decision." 171 Wn.2d at 39.

Bowman's self-defense theory and evidence were most consistent with the lesser included offenses of first or second degree manslaughter—Bowman argued that the shooting was the culmination of a road rage incident gone awry. The evidence was also more consistent with second

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Court of Appeals misleadingly quoted defense counsel to support its erroneous conclusion that defense counsel believed there was support for the decision. For instance, the Court of Appeals asserted defense counsel stated "I agree with it," referring to Bowman's decision, but this isn't what defense counsel said. Appendix at 18. Rather, he said, "One [decision] that [Bowman] has made that because he has made it. I agree with it." 21RP 5 (emphasis added). Likewise, the Court of Appeals relied on the fact that defense counsel "acknowledged the decision not to seek lesser included offenses 'could be characterized easily as a tactical decision." Appendix at 18 (emphasis added) (quoting 21RP 5). But defense counsel actually stated, "And as my person opinion is that ultimately that decision is the defendant's. So Mr. Bowman has made that decision. We all know that he is certainly capable intellectually of making decisions, and I think it could be characterized easily as a tactical decision." 21RP 5. Only by selectively omitting the context of defense counsel's statements was the Court of Appeals able to conclude that defense counsel believed there was support for the decision, given that the record is clear that the only reason defense counsel agreed with the lesser included offense decision was because Bowman made the decision.

degree intentional murder. Bowman testified Noll pursued him through city streets, threw objects at him, swore and yelled at him, and made violent, threatening gestures. 19RP 41-66, 138. Bowman also thought Noll was reaching for a gun and described being in fear for his life. 19RP 66. At the moment of the shooting, Bowman explained he experienced a surreal moment and faded in and out. 19RP 67-68. Noll was shot in the head four times. 13RP 82.

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