RECEIVED VIA PORTAL

No. 94294-3

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

THOMASDINH BOWMAN,

Petitioner.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND CROSS-PETITION

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

DONNA L. WISE Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

#

### E. ARGUMENT

As to Issues 1-5 raised in the Petition, the State's briefing at the Court of Appeals adequately responds to the issues raised in

the petition for review. If review is accepted, the State seeks cross-review of corresponding issues it raised in the Court of Appeals but that the Court's decision did not address. RAP 13.4(d). The provisions of RAP 13.4(b) are inapplicable because the State is not seeking review, and believes that review by this Court is unnecessary. However, if the Court grants review, in the interests of justice and full consideration of the issues, the Court should also grant review of the alternative arguments raised by the State in the Court of Appeals, which the State believes are consistent with existing law. RAP 1.2(a); RAP 13.7(b). Those arguments are summarized in Sections 2 and 3 below and set forth more fully in the briefing in the Court of Appeals.

# 1. THE STATE OBJECTS TO PRO SE ARGUMENTS UNSUPPORTED BY ANALYSIS.

The State objects to consideration of the many grounds for the petition for review that were raised by Bowman in his pro se briefing in the Court of Appeals below and are not supported by legal analysis in the petition for review. Issues 6 through 11 in the petition for review were issues not raised in the Brief of Appellant in the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals did not ask counsel to file additional briefing addressing those issues in the Court of Appeals pursuant to RAP 10.10(f) and neither counsel briefed these issues. With respect to most of these issues, the petition for review cites no legal authority, as to the others, it cites general legal principles but includes only conclusory statements that error occurred, with no explanation of the reason why review should be accepted, as required by RAP 13.4(c)(7). These potential issues should not be considered as they have not been properly presented.

The State further objects to consideration of matters unsupported by citation to the record and matters outside the record referred to in the petition and in the Statement of Additional Grounds filed by Bowman in the Court of Appeals. Grounds for review that include allegations premised on matters outside the record should be rejected. On direct appeal, a reviewing court will not consider matters outside the trial record. State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The arguments supporting issues 6-11 contain many characterizations of events at trial (including alleged statements of the prosecutors) and description of the computer systems used by Bowman in his business. Only four factual assertions are supported by citations to the record. Pet. Rev. at 24-30.

# 2. BOWMAN HAS NOT ESTABLISHED PREJUDICE RESULTING FROM THE ALLEGED DEFICIENCY OF HIS TRIAL COUNSEL.

The Court of Appeals properly concluded that defense trial counsel was not deficient in making the decision to forego a lesser included offense instruction. State v. Bowman, slip op. at 18-19. If this Court grants review on this issue, the State cross-petitions to preserve its argument that even if the defense attorney's performance was deficient in giving excessive deference to Bowman's choice, Bowman has not established resulting prejudice: either that defense counsel would have made a different decision if he had given less weight to Bowman's opinion, or that the result of the trial would have changed.

To establish that his counsel provided constitutionally ineffective assistance, the defendant must show deficient performance and must affirmatively show prejudice. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 693, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)). To show prejudice, the defendant must establish that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. State v. Thomas, 109

Wn.2d 222, 226, 743 P.2d 816 (1987); Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. Without a showing of prejudice, an ineffectiveness claim fails, even if the representation was deficient. In re Pers. Restraint of Rice, 118 Wn.2d 876, 889, 828 P.2d 1086 (1992).

The claimed deficiency in this case is defense counsel's allegedly excessive deference to Bowman's choice not to offer the jury lesser included offenses. Bowman has not established that if defense counsel had given less weight to Bowman's opinion, counsel would have decided to offer a lesser offense, so he has not shown that there would have been any effect at all on the trial.

In making the decision regarding offering a lesser offense, this Court has advised that "it is the defendant's prerogative to take this gamble, provided her [or his] attorney believes there is support for the decision." in <u>State v. Grier</u>, 171 Wn.2d 17, 39, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011). There is no evidence in the record that defense trial counsel did not believe there was support for the decision. Counsel's reference to Bowman's intellectual ability to make the decision<sup>2</sup> suggests that counsel believed that the decision had

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "We all know that he is certainly capable intellectually of making decisions, and I think it could be characterized easily as a tactical decision." 21RP 5.

logical support. If so, counsel would have made the same decision, respecting the defendant's choice not to request instructions on the lesser offenses.

Bowman has argued that it is reasonably probable that there would have been a different result because the lesser offense instructions would have been given and the evidence supported conviction on a legally available lesser. This argument not only ignores the specific alleged deficiency in this case (the basis of counsel's decision), it also nullifies the second prong of the <a href="Strickland">Strickland</a> analysis, as it asserts no more than that the lesser included instructions would have been given.

This Court in <u>Grier</u> addressed the issue of prejudice resulting from the failure to request instruction on a lesser offense. It held that the defendant there had not established prejudice under the second prong of the <u>Strickland</u> analysis, because the court must assume the jury would not have convicted the defendant of the charged crime (second degree murder) unless the State met its burden of proof,<sup>3</sup> so the availability of lesser offenses

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> 171 Wn.2d at 44 (citing <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 694 (holding that a reviewing court should presume the judge or jury acted according to law)).

(manslaughter) would not have changed the outcome. Grier, 171 Wn.2d at 43-44 (citing Autrey v. State, 700 N.E.2d 1140 (Ind. 1998)). For the same reason, Bowman has not established prejudice in this case: the jury found Bowman guilty of premeditated murder and must be presumed to have followed their instructions, so the availability of lesser offenses would not have changed the outcome.

3. IF THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUSTAINING AN OBJECTION TO DEFENSE COUNSEL REFERRING TO FACTS THAT WERE NOT IN EVIDENCE, THAT ERROR WAS HARMLESS.

The Court of Appeals properly concluded that the trial court did not err in sustaining two objections during the defense closing argument: the first was as to a misleading statement as to the law, the second was as to a reference to facts not in evidence. State v.Bowman, slip op. at 19-20. In this petition for review, Bowman seeks review of only the second ruling, that defense counsel was improperly referring to facts not in evidence. If this Court grants review on this issue, the State cross-petitions to preserve its argument that even if the trial court erred, the error was harmless because there is no reasonable probability it affected the verdict.

# The argument at issue follows:

And then he's going to go on, and I'm repeating myself, go on, and do what the State believes he did as a student of murder. The thrill kill concept makes no sense in light of the facts. And I don't mean to be condescending because I'm not at all. I have the most respect for juries. You wouldn't believe how much I do. But if we can -- if you can focus on the facts. The thrill kill thing makes no sense at all.

If Dinh Bowman was a student of murder because he possessed this manual, and this book, he certainly did not follow the lessons, <u>all the lessons prescribed in those books.</u>

<u>Don't do anything in broad daylight. Two, don't do anything in heavy traffic. Three, don't do anything in a flashy car.</u>

MS. RICHARDSON: Your Honor, I'm going to object. This is facts not in evidence.

THE COURT: Sustained.

MR. BROWNE: The book is in evidence. You can read what's in there. I will continue talking about the factors that do not apply to Mr. Bowman. Semiautomatics leave shell casings. Using -- committing a crime, and having your cellphone on will, we now know from the experts, record your area where you are.

21RP 117 (emphasis added). After this objection, defense counsel continued to characterize Bowman's behavior as inconsistent with the general advice given in Murder Inc., without further objection. 21RP 117-18.

A trial court has the authority to restrict closing argument, including argument by the defense. State v. Perez-Cervantes, 141 Wn.2d 468, 474, 6 P.3d 1160 (2000). The trial court should always

restrict the argument of counsel to the facts that are in evidence; otherwise a jury may be confused or misled. <u>Id.</u> at 474-75. Even if the trial court errs in precluding an argument, the error is reversible only if there is a reasonable probability that it affected the verdict. <u>State v. Frazier</u>, 55 Wn. App. 204, 212, 777 P.2d 27 (1989).

Bowman asserts that the judge precluded a defense argument that the State had not proven premeditation. That claim is entirely unsupported by the record, as much of the defense closing addressed that issue. 21RP 107-13, 116-18.

The jury was properly instructed that its role was to determine the case based on the testimony and exhibits at trial. CP 20-22. It had the opportunity to review the portions of Murder Inc. and The Death Dealer's Manual that were admitted. If it agreed that defense counsel's statements were justifiable as an inference from the actual advice given in those books, the jury would not be influenced by the objection or ruling of the court. Counsel was permitted to continue to refute the State's theory that Bowman was a student of murder, although counsel did not re-cast the general advice as specific lessons again. Bowman has not established that

there is a reasonable probability that the proffered argument would have affected the verdict, so any error does not warrant reversal.

# F. CONCLUSION

The State respectfully asks that the petition for review be denied. However, if review is granted, in the interests of justice the State seeks cross-review of the issues identified in Section C and E, supra.